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Birmingham South-West Methodist Circuit
Preamble

Methodism in the South West side of the City of Birmingham goes back to the 18th century.  It was part of the original Staffordshire Circuit before Birmingham became a circuit in its own right in 1781.

John Wesley paid several flying visits to Birmingham between 1738 and 1748, before a society was first established in a house in Steelhouse Lane followed by the acquisition of permanent room.  Prior to his visit in October in 1749 Wesley described Birmingham as having ‘been long a dry, uncomfortable place’, but he was pleasantly surprised by the attentive congregation.  The work in Birmingham seems to have been beset with problems, but the work of Alexander Mather, who had been appointed in 1760, resulted in the ‘hiring of a large building’ in 1763.  This was a disused ‘playhouse’ in the Moor Street area in which the society worshipped until 1782.  Wesley preached there on 21st March 1764 and also at the closing service on Saturday, July 6th 1782.  On Sunday, 7th he ‘opened the new house at eight’ and then preached to a packed chapel in the evening.  Having visited Darlaston he returned to Birmingham on the 10th and on Friday the 12 he had a tour of Matthew Boulton’s works at Soho.

The 1782 ‘new house’, which became known as Cherry Street Chapel, was the head of the new Birmingham Circuit and in 1835 this circuit was strong enough to be divided into two.  These were Cherry Street (Birmingham West) and Belmont Row (Birmingham East).  In time Cherry Street fathered the Islington Circuit (1873) and fourteen years later (1887) the Bristol Road Circuit came into being from it.  Although, Methodist Union took place 1932, the ‘old’ Wesleyan and Primitive circuits in this south west part of the city did not amalgamate until 1943, and even then kept the names of both circuits in its title becoming The Bristol Road and St Paul’s Circuit.  However, in 1957 it took the name The Birmingham (South West) Circuit and so it remained until the formation of The Birmingham Circuit in 2011 when the name disappeared from the records.  For posterity it seemed important to have some brief record of the history of the circuit hence this account, which is culled mainly from the extant circuit plans.
A History of the Birmingham South West Methodist Circuit

(taken chiefly from the Circuit Plans)

The Beginning – The Wesleyan Methodist Circuits

In 1746 England and Wales was divided into seven circuits – London (including most of the Home Counties), Bristol (including most of the south-west), Cornwall, Evesham (with much of the Midlands), Yorkshire (which included Cheshire, Lancashire, Derbyshire, Nottinghamshire, Rutland, Lincolnshire), Newcastle and Wales.

The printed Minutes of Conference 1749 lists the circuits then in existence and among them is the Staffordshire Circuit.
  After that there is a gap in the printed Minutes until 1765 when we find that the following travelling preachers were stationed in the Staffordshire Circuit –T(homas). Hanson, William Orp(e) and James Glazebrooke.
  Birmingham remained in the Staffordshire Circuit until 1781 when it must have been strong enough to stand on its own as an independent Circuit.  So, in 1782, the itinerants appointed to the new Birmingham Circuit were John Easton, Thomas Hanby and Samuel Randall.  The Wednesbury Circuit was formed from the Birmingham Circuit in 1801, but it is outside the scope of this account to follow the progress of that circuit.

In 1835 Birmingham Circuit divided into two separate circuits – Birmingham Cherry Street (Birmingham West) and Birmingham Belmont Row (Birmingham East).  As Birmingham South West came from Cherry Street we shall concentrate on its development.  The Islington Circuit came into being from Cherry Street in 1873, while Cherry Street Circuit continued as a separate entity until 1887.  In 1884 the Bristol Road Circuit was formed from the Islington Circuit.  Its first ministers were Samuel Lee and Henry Oyston.

Birmingham, Bristol Road Wesleyan Methodist Circuit 1884-1932

Circuit plans from the early 1900s are extant and deposited in the Circuit Archive in the Birmingham Reference Library, with any duplicates being lodged in the Methodist Archives and Research Centre, The John Rylands Library, Manchester and the Wesley Historical Library, Oxford Brooks University, Oxford.  This study is based primarily on the circuit plans available.

The format of the circuit plan of 14th January-10th April 1912 was a booklet consisting of 16 pages with a picture of the Bristol Road Wesleyan Methodist Church, Benacre Road, and the wording ‘Presented to the Members and Seat-holders’ on the front cover.  The word ‘Seat-holders’ was changed to ‘Congregation’ in 1928, maybe seat/pew rents were going out of fashion!  There were seven churches listed, namely, Bristol Road, Harborne, Selly Oak, California, King’s Norton, Northfield and Fashoda Road served by three ministers - the Revs Isaiah Parker, John Morton and J. A. Findlay, MA.  Two other ministers were listed, both Assistant College Tutors, namely G. G. Findlay, DD (Headingley College) and R. N. Flew, BA (Handsworth College) and a Lay Agent, Mr G. Burford and 25 local preachers, plus two on trial and one exhorter.  There are several notes of particular interest in this plan.  It seems that there was an Extension Scheme at Selly Oak and contributions were welcomed as were others for the plans to erect a School Chapel in Fashoda Road, which was a ‘rapidly growing neighbourhood’ and where ‘a site has been secured and the building will be erected as soon as the necessary funds are in hand.’  We learn that the President of Conference, the Rev. Dr Henry Haigh, would be holding a ‘Convention in connection with the Foreign Missionary Centenary Movement in the Central Hall on January 22nd.  He had been a missionary in Mysore and was Missionary Secretary from 1912-1916/7.  He died in 1917.  There was also a word of warning that ‘Anniversary Services or other Meetings affecting the Plan, must first have the sanction of the Superintendent.  The consent of the Preacher appointed must be obtained when a change is proposed.’  Obviously the Circuit wished to abide by St Paul’s dictum that ‘all things should be done decently and in order’ (I Cor. 14:40)!

In the circuit plan of 11th October–10th January 1915 the seven churches were served by three ministers – Revs A.E. Sharpley, BA, BD; A.E. Butler and E. Ewart Dewhurst.  Four other ministers were listed - Revs T. Rutherford; J. J. Ingram (supernumerary), W. W. Holdsworth, MA (New Testament Tutor at Handsworth College), and R. E. Overton.  As well as Mr G. Burford there were 34 local preachers, plus one on trial.  Of the 24 local preachers in the 14th July–12th October 1918 plan five are noted as ‘serving in H. M. Forces’.

Membership figures for 1912, 1915 and 1918 were




1912


1915


1918

Bristol Road

145


129


171

Harborne

157


187


191

Selly Oak

141


105


112

California

 19


 15


 14

King’s Norton

166


167


174

Northfield

 48


 47


 60

Fashoda Road

 18


 26


 28

It seems that at this time Fashoda Road must still have been a rented property as in 1915 a note is included stating that ‘the need for a new School Chapel in the Selly Park district is very urgent’ and asking for subscriptions.  However, World War 1 intervened as the 1918 plan notes ‘the proposed new Chapel at Selly Park cannot be erected till the war is over, but the necessary funds should be raised as soon as possible’.  In fact the plan of 3rd October 1920-January 1921 reports that the new Chapel is in process of being built and probably will be opened early in December. Thereafter it was called Selly Park and had a membership of 30.

In 1915 Bristol Road held services at 11.00 a.m., 3.00 p.m. and 6.30 p.m.  The 3.00 p.m. service is described thus ‘A Pleasant Service for the People is held in the Bristol Road Church every Sunday afternoon from 3.00 to 4.00 p.m.’  By 1918 this seems to have been abandoned.  Five churches had two services each Sunday with a weeknight prayer meeting, while California had an evening service only, plus a meeting on a Tuesday.  Fashoda Road in 1918 only held occasional evening services.  Both plans contain a lectionary for each Sunday, consisting of readings from the Old and New Testaments.  ‘Sacrament of the Lord’s Supper’ in 1915 was celebrated twice in the quarter at Bristol Road, Harborne and King’s Norton, once at Selly Oak, California, Northfield and Fashoda Road.  Covenant services were held at all the churches, except Fashoda Road, on 3rd January.  October 18th 1915 was designed as ‘Decision Day’ and November 8th as Temperance Sunday.  In 1918 the ‘Sacrament of the Lord’s Supper’ was celebrated three times in the quarter at Bristol Road and Harborne, twice at Selly Oak, King’s Norton and Northfield and not at all at California and Fashoda Road.  Harvest Festival services were held on 29th September at Bristol Road, Selly Oak, California, King’s Norton and Fashoda Road, with Harborne and Northfield having had theirs the previous Sunday.  Harborne celebrated its Chapel Anniversary on 14th July 1918.  Special Collections were taken from time to time and on these plans we find ones for Hospital Sunday (HS), Foreign Missionary Anniversary (FM), Theological Institution (I), the ‘Worn Out Ministers’ Fund (W) and for Kingswood School (K).  Marriages could ‘solemnized’ at the five bigger churches ‘due notice being given to the respective ministers and Chapel Keepers’.  The timetable for the Quarterly Meetings on December 16th 1915 (at Bristol Road) and September 11th (at Selly Oak) was ‘Stewards meet at 5.45.  Tea at 6.00 and Quarterly Meeting at 7.p.m.’.  The Local Preachers’ Meeting in 1915 had been held the previous week at Bristol Road, with tea at 6.15 p.m. and the 1918 one was also scheduled for there, but no tea is mentioned!  Under the heading ‘Miscellaneous Information’ is to be found details of the Constitution of Circuit Official Meetings – Quarterly Meeting, The Leaders’ Meeting and the Trustees Meeting.  The offices and duties of the Stewards are listed – Circuit Stewards, Society Stewards, Poor Stewards, Chapel Stewards and finally there is a note about requests for the next plan.  An Abstract of Circuit Accounts is given, including ‘estimated Expenditure for the ensuing year’ – stipends for three ministers, the Lay Agent’s Salary, expenses for three manses, connexional funds and miscellaneous matters.  The total budget required would be £990 in 1915 and £1000 in 1918.  To cover the Annual expenditure the annual assessment for each church was itemised, with it being noted that the shortfall would be met, it was hoped, by a grant from the Circuit Home Mission Fund:




1912


1915


1918





£.  s.  d


£.  s  d.


£.  s.  d

Bristol Road

295  0  0

260  0  0

270  0  0

Harborne

300  0  0

270  0  0

280  0  0

Selly Oak

135  0  0

135  0  0

140  0  0

King’s Norton

195  0  0

205  0  0

215  0  0

Northfield

 50  0  0

  50  0  0

  54  0  0

California

   5  0  0

    6  0  0

    6  0  0

Fashoda Road

   8  0  0

    8  0  0

    8  0  0




------------------------------------------------------------------




988  0  0

934  0  0

973  0  0




------------------------------------------------------------------

The Circuit plans of 1918-20 give not only the names, but also the ranks of those who died serving in WWI.  Looking at the plans quarter by quarter we can see, at least, when the men’s deaths were recorded.  The first quarter, which contains ‘Our Gallant Dead’, is July 14th to October 12th, 1918.  It names 36 men from six of the seven churches in the circuit: 12 from Bristol Road; 8 from Harborne; 1 from Selly Oak; 2 from California; 5 from King’s Norton; 8 from Northfield, plus 2 from Selly Oak noted as ‘officially reported missing’.  The listing ends with the words 

‘Honour the Brave.

Remember the Bereaved

Pray for Righteous Peace
From January 1930 the Circuit Plan and Directory contained an important notice that ‘copyright Songs or Music must not be sung, played or performed on church premises unless the owner of the copyright or his agent has previously consented in writing.’  In essence this ruling still stands today through the necessity to obtain a copyright licence for such use.

Both the format and number of chapels remained the same until 1932.  The plan of 10th April-10th July 1932 was ‘modernised’ in style and the picture of the Bristol Road Chapel disappeared from the front, though the number of churches remained the same.  However, there was a footnote to the Sunday appointment schedule which read ‘Sunday School Festival, Allens Cross Council Schools, Sunday, June 26th, 3 p.m. Mr H. Webb, 6.30 p.m. Rev A. Cartwright.  This new style plan also included a directory with the names and addresses of office holders. After Union in 1932 the wording of the title of the 16th October 1932–8th January 1933 plan was changed from The Wesleyan Methodist Church, Bristol Road Circuit Birmingham to The Methodist Church Bristol Road Circuit Birmingham.

The Methodist Church Bristol Road Circuit Birmingham 1932-1943
In spite of Methodist Union in 1932 the Wesleyan and Primitive Methodist Circuits in South West Birmingham did not become integrated immediately, but one effect was that the plan of 9th July–8th October 1933 did list the Wesleyan Selly Oak Church as St John’s.  The Primitive Methodist one in Selly Oak was known as St Paul’s, so presumably this was done to avoid confusion.  A note that ‘The ‘NEW HYMN BOOK is in use at Bristol Road, Harborne and Selly Oak’ was included in the October 1934 - January 1935 plan (MHB, 1932).  A similar note appeared in January–April 1937 to the effect that the New Book of Offices was now available.

The plan of January–April 1934 reported that services, held by circuit local preachers, were being held every Sunday morning in the wards of the “Woodlands” Cripples’ Hospital, Northfield.  [The word ‘Cripples’ was removed in November 1950 being replaced by the title ‘The Royal Orthopaedic Hospital, “The Woodlands”, Northfield.]  A ‘plan’ of services was organized and two people offered to serve as pianists.  Later that same year (1934) services were being held in the Convalescent Hospital, Vicarage Road, Edgbaston, these apparently ceased in the autumn of 1938.  Services at the “Woodlands” continued, with others ‘whenever possible at “Forelands”, Bromsgrove’.  [“Forelands” was the rehabilitation facility for patients discharged from the “Woodlands”.]

A helpful direction was added to the details about the various churches when the location of the church was included.  So we find Bristol Road was situated at the corner of Benacre Street; Harborne in South Street; California in Stonehouse Lane; King’s Norton at Cotteridge; Selly Park in Pershore Road, Selly Oak in Bristol Road and Northfield in Bristol Road South.

Interestingly the Circuit Trust Treasurer Mr H.G. Hipkins is listed, as the ‘Treasurer of Allen’s Cross Sunday School Fund’ for the first time on the plan of July-October 1936.

There was a significant addition to the circuit plan in the quarter of 10th April-16th July 1938 when for the first time the name of Longbridge, situated at the corner of Cliff Rock Road, appears with a service scheduled for 6.30 p.m.  A further note requests that preachers planned at Longbridge ‘make themselves responsible for the Children’s Service at 5.45 p.m.’.  Another church was added to the October 1938-January 1939 plan when Stirchley in Pershore Road, with a membership of 42, was listed.  Marriages were allowed to be solemnized there as well as in the larger churches, as already noted, and at Selly Park.

Due to the onset of World War II the three extant plans of January – July, October - December 1940 were simply a single one sided printed A4 sheet containing the Sunday appointments, the details of the ministers, circuit stewards, Quarterly and Local Preachers’ meetings and other important events plus a request for the names of members serving in the Forces and for the names and addresses of ‘evacuated school children’ and also a note about the Trescott Road Sunday School Anniversary.  As Trescott Road is on the Allen’s Cross estate presumably this is the same as the Sunday School mentioned earlier.  Thereafter from July 1940-August 1943 both sides of the sheet were used giving details of the local preachers and circuit and local church officials.  The October 1940 - January 1941 plan indicated the presence of a Wesley Deaconess, Sister E(ileen) Basford, living at 225 Northfield Road, Kings Norton [she took services at King’s Norton (Oct 20th - Young Peoples’ Day) and Northfield (November 17th – Temperance Sunday)].  According to the Wesley Deaconess records from September 1940 she had no official appointment due to ‘home claims’, but she resigned in July 1941 to marry Mr. W. Ivor Davies on 31st October 1941.  On the April-July 1942 plan we find Mrs Davies, 221 Northfield Road, Kings Norton, (obviously the former Sister Basford), included in the list of local preachers.  The January–April 1941 plan shows for the first time the mention of hospital chaplains with the Rev F.L. Craig-Kelly–not one of circuit ministers (?denomination?) being attached to the General, Queen Elizabeth and Queens (later known as the Birmingham Accident Hospital) and the Rev Arthur Kershaw serving ‘all other hospitals’.  I suspect this addition had a connection with members and others injured because of the war.  The circuit quarterly plan of October 1941 contains the following information:

BRISTOL ROAD CHURCH

Bristol Road Church, having been destroyed on the night of October 28th, 1940, the services and work have been transferred to Selly Park.

So from then onwards the plan lists both ‘Bristol Road and Selly Park’ and ‘Selly Park and Bristol Road’ with obviously the same preachers being appointed for the same services under the two places names.

In a special circuit plan produced for the period of ‘July-18th to Aug. 29th, 1943’ there is a significant notice in heavy type, set on a page by itself and within a framework, obviously to highlight its importance:

We anticipate that  Conference will give its  approval to the  amalgamation of the Bristol Road and St. Paul’s Circuits, and that it will take effect on September 1st, 1943.  It is intended to issue a  new Plan from that date. Please keep Saturday September 4th free for a United Gathering at St. Paul’s to celebrate the Union of the Circuits and to welcome the new Ministers.

We now give brief details of the Birmingham Primitive Methodist work in the Birmingham South West area in order to set the above notice in its context.
Birmingham Primitive Methodism with its beginnings in Selly Oak.

The first Primitive Methodist Circuit in Birmingham was established in 1828/9 and it was called Birmingham East and West from 1839-42.  Various other circuits were started at different times, but the first incursion of the Primitive Methodists into the Selly Oak area came in 1870 when a group of people met together in the open air or in a cottage meeting.  As numbers increased they rented a room at ‘The Village Bells’ in Harborne Lane.  In 1874 a chapel, capable of seating 200, was opened and a Sunday School started.  As the number of scholars grew it became necessary to raise money to erect a schoolroom at the rear of the chapel.  With the development of Bournbrook and Bournville it was obvious that larger premises were needed.  Unable to enlarge the existing buildings a new society was started in Raddlebarn Road to accommodate the overflow, especially of the Sunday School.  Meanwhile work was still developing in the original premises, which soon proved too small, so in 1907 they were demolished and a new chapel, costing £2,850, was built.  The congregation faced a debt of £1,650, which was finally cleared in 1938.  However, over the years improvements had been made, including a pipe organ, and a manse was purchased and furnished.  After WWII the Trustees were able to buy the freehold and improve the cloakroom and toilet facilities.  In 1932 the Church adopted the name of St Paul’s.  At the same time the Wesleyan Methodist Church in Selly Oak became known as St John’s. [see p. 5]
Although no Primitive Methodist Circuit Plans from the St. Paul’s, Selly Oak are available for the period of 1922-1933 we know from other sources that Victor Murray (Vice-President of last Primitive Methodist Conference, 1932) was a member at St Paul’s and a local preacher.  He taught Education and Biblical Studies to student teachers in the Selly Oak Colleges as well as teaching history at Bourne College, the Primitive Methodist Secondary School at Quinton. Both his daughter Christine and his ashes are interred at Lodge Hill cemetery, Selly Oak. (Christine died of diphtheria on 4th December 1933, aged 7½) and Victor Murray on 10th June 1967). 

From the eight circuit plans (October 1941-August 1943) extant relating to St Paul’s Selly Oak (ex-Primitive Methodist) Circuit before it united with Bristol Road (ex-Wesleyan) Circuit in September 1943 it is possible to get a flavour of the work carried on there at that time.  There were five churches, namely St. Paul’s, Selly Oak; Bournbrook, Raddlebarn Road; Stirchley, Cartland Road; Kings Norton (situated near The Green, King’s Norton) and Hay Green, Bournville.  The minister, who lived at the manse in Maple Road, Bournville, was the Rev John Thomas Lancaster (1938-12th December 1942).  The Rev Charles Pelham Groves, BA, BD, a tutor at Kingsmead College (1926-1937) and Professor of Missions at the Selly Oak Colleges (1945-54)
 is also listed among the list of preachers.  Kingsmead College was the Methodist College for the training of missionaries [see page 22].  There were 15 local preachers, including one woman, plus 4 ‘on trial’.  Six of these, in the autumn plan of 1941, were serving in the Forces.  23 others are listed as ‘preachers from other circuits’ or ‘Helpers’ – of these 4 were women.  As was common in a number of Primitive Methodist circuits the preachers are identified by number rather than by name – i.e. Lancaster is number 1; Groves is number 2.  There is a note asking preachers ‘to give five minute addresses to the children’ and observations that the ‘New Methodist Hymn Book was being used in all the Churches’, and that Stirchley’s morning service was a Children’s Service.  ‘Divine Worship’ was held at 11.00 a.m. in all five churches and, with the exception of St Paul’s, which held services 3.30 p.m. and 6.30 p.m., the evening services were held at either 3.30 p.m. (Stirchley and Kings Norton) or 4.00 p.m. (Bournbrook and Hay Green) because of the wartime blackout.  St Paul’s had two Sunday School sessions at 10.00 a.m. and 3.30 p.m. with all the other four churches having afternoon sessions.  Marriages could be ‘solemnized’ at Selly Oak, Bournbrook and Hay Green.

Each Circuit Plan, as well as listing the churches and dates on which preachers are appointed, also records the membership and ‘allocation’ - presumably the equivalent of the Wesleyan ‘assessment’.  The statistics for the period October 12th 1941- January 4th 1942 were

CHURCH

MEMBERSHIP

ALLOCATION

St Paul’s


242



£66

Bournbrook


 37



£16

Stirchley


 24



£ 6

Kings Norton


 21



£ 6

Hay Green


 27



£ 6

Of the five churches in the St Paul’s Circuit – Hay Green, is especially interesting as the original proposition was for it to be under the auspices of the United Methodist Church (Edgbaston Circuit).  However, as it was not built until 1932 it was one of the few churches built at Union and was then included in the St Paul’s Circuit.

When the minister, the Rev J.T. Lancaster died on 12th December 1942 the District Missionary (Chairman of the Birmingham Methodist District), the Rev W. Partridge, MA, BD (ex-WM) became the ‘Minister in Charge’.  In the Minister’s Quarterly Letter in the Circuit plan of January 10th-April 4th 1943 he expressed the Circuit and District’s sadness and sympathy at Mr Lancaster’s death, and an appreciation of his ministry.  He stated that he had been able to make arrangements with the Mission House for the Rev George E. Pinfield, currently studying at Kingsmead preparatory to going as a missionary to China following his ministerial training at Didsbury Theological College, to supply the pulpits until Conference.  Mr Pinfield would also be able to undertake some afternoon pastoral work.  Mr Pinfield had hoped to go to China, but his health precluded this so he was resident at Kingsmead, presumably in the missionary flat/cottages, and therefore available to look after the St Paul’s circuit for six months.

Writing his final Quarterly Letter for the Circuit Plan of July11th-August 29th 1943 Mr Pinfield commended the amalgamation of the Bristol Road and the St Paul’s Circuits, urging all members ‘to express a real unity of Spirit and Purpose’ to make the union a success.  He also said how much he had enjoyed his six months stint in the St Paul’s Circuit and was leaving with real regret.  Being unfit to go to China he was stationed in Coventry in September 1943.

Bristol Road and St Paul’s Circuit, Birmingham – September 1943 - 1957
The two circuits came together in September 1943 with five ministers serving fourteen churches (thirteen actual buildings bearing in mind that because of the destruction of the Bristol premises services were being held at Selly Park).  The five ministers stationed were the Revs T. Bassett Reed, G. H. B. Sketchley, Harry Wilkinson, R. Leslie Waterman and Bernard Franklin plus the Rev L. E. Hicken BSc., who was a missionary in the South China District and is noted in the Minutes of Conference as ‘visiting England.’  Several other missionaries stationed in that South China District are noted as ‘interned’, so presumably Mr Hicken was either on furlough when the Japanese invaded or managed to escape.
  Ministers who are also listed as serving in the circuit were the Revs Charles P. Groves, BA, BD at Kingsmead College; John Foster, MA in the Selly Oak Colleges; Frederick A. Thomas as Free Church Chaplain to the General, Queen’s and Queen Elizabeth Hospitals and Arthur Kershaw, a supernumerary minister, who was the Methodist Chaplain to all the other Birmingham Hospitals.
  There were 47 accredited local preachers, with another 7 ‘on trial’ and a further 3 designated as ‘auxiliaries’.  The 7 women noted included Mrs M.E. Hicken, (Mr Hicken’s wife), and the wife of Mr Groves is named as one of the auxiliaries. The list the following quarter (December 1943-March 1944) notes that 9 local preachers were serving ‘in HM Forces’, including a Miss Holden.

The plan of July – October 1945 includes the information that two officials are looking after Trescott Road Sunday School, Allens Cross, Northfield referred to earlier (page 5).  This seems to have been a Circuit outreach project overseen by Northfield and its minister.

A Methodist Joint Re-building Fund appears to have been set up in 1945, presumably to consider the re-building of the blitzed Bristol Road Church at the corner of Benacre Road.  Eventually, after long and careful consideration, and consultation with the leaders of Wycliffe Baptist Church about the spiritual needs of the surrounding neighbourhood and their own planned expansion, it was decided not to rebuild on the original site.

Services at Kings Norton (Village) – the ex-Primitive Methodist Church – ceased at the end of 1945, and the 18 members came under the care of the Superintendent Minister, the Rev T. Bassett Reed.  The plan of February 1946 records the circuit membership as 1137 full members, 3 on trial and 13 junior.

In 1945 the Rev John Foster received the degree of DD and in the September the Rev A. Stanley Beaty was stationed at Kingsmead College as Principal.  Then in 1946 the Rev Bryan H. Reed BD joined Westhill College.  It was founded in 1907 to train non-conformist Sunday School teachers, then moved into Community and Youth work, Frobel education and later the training of primary school teachers.

The plan of February–April 1946 shows that nine local preachers were still in the forces and it also gives the name of the minister in pastoral charge of each church and the membership figures.  There were four fully stationed ministers plus the Rev W.E. Garman, obviously an active supernumerary.  Thus we find the following

Church



Minister


Membership
Bristol Road


W.E.Garman


 92 full;3 on trial;1 jnr

St Paul’s, Selly Oak

A.A. Jones


205 full

St John’s, Selly Oak

B.G. Franklin


105 full; 8 junior

Harborne


E.P. Picken


187 full

California


E. P. Picken


 18 full

Kings Norton


T.B.Reed


250 full

Kings Norton Village

T.B. Reed


 18 full

Northfield


B.G. Franklin


 98 full

Stirchley


T.B. Reed


 33 full

Bournbrook


E.P. Picken


 29 full

Cartland Road


W.E. Garman


 22 full

Selly Park


W.E. Garman


 36 full; 4 junior

Hay Green


A.A. Jones


 21 full

Longbridge


A.A. Jones


 25 full

Totals








         1137 full

         3 on trial

         13 junior

From May 1948 the price of circuit plan was THREEPENCE’.  Although it is not stated this was usually given free to preachers, but for others voluntary contributions were welcomed.

In 1950 the Rev W. Partridge, MA, BD retired as Chairman of the District and became a supernumerary.  He was succeeded by the Rev W. Russell Shearer M.A.  From the 1940s ministers who were stationed at the Selly Oak Colleges or who were missionaries on furlough living in Kingsmead Close or the Missionary Guest House were listed on the circuit plan.

The Circuit had purchased a Film Projector in the summer of 1954 which was available for the use of the churches.  In November 1955 the Selly Park and Cartland Road Societies united with the services being held at Cartland Road.  The Cartland Road Church became known as St Andrew’s, Cartland Road.  The Bristol Road Society, which had been worshipping with the Selly Park Society, was also removed from the churches listed on the following quarter’s (February-April 1956) plan.  Hence the number of churches in the circuit was now 9.  Another innovation on that plan was the recommendation of two books, namely “The Missionary Obligation of the Church” (price 2s.3d. post free) and “The Sign of the Fish” by Alan Birtwhistle (price 3s.9d. post free).  Such recommendations continued for several quarters.  In the plan of August-October 1956 there is a notice about the ‘opening of Bristol Road, Northfield, Methodist Church, Saturday, October 6th 1956’.  The War Damage regulations meant that any money awarded had to used for one church so when it was decided not to rebuild the blitzed Bristol Road, Benacres Road Church and as the existing Northfield Church building was now inadequate for the developing neighbourhood it was arranged that a new church should be built there.
  On 1st June 1957 the societies of St John’s and St Paul’s, Selly Oak united becoming known as Selly Oak Methodist Church worshipping in the St Paul’s Church.  The total number of churches was now 8 and remained so until the autumn of 1969 when Shenley, Halescroft Square came into the circuit from the Birmingham Mission circuit (see p.12).  The Circuit plan of November 1957-January 1958 was the one to record the name of circuit as Birmingham, (South West) by which it continued to be known until four circuits combined to form the new Birmingham Circuit in 2011.

Birmingham South West Circuit 1957 - 2011
From 1959 Holy Communion services, often monthly, were being held at Selly Oak, Harborne, King’s Norton, Cotteridge and Bristol Road, Northfield at 8.00 a.m. with morning services at 11.00 a.m. and evening ones at 6.30 p.m.  The November 1959–January 1960 plan has a heading ‘Family Services’ asking preachers to note that the morning services at St Andrew’s and Longbridge started at 10.00 a.m. and should only last for 45 minutes.

The statistics for the Circuit in 1960 were as follows:

Church
Minister

Circuit Membership
Assessment
Selly Oak

Anthony S. Bennett

359

£295.0.0

Harborne

Raymond C. Turner

153

£158.0.0

California

Raymond C. Turner

 28

£ 12.15.0

King’s Norton

E. Ralph Bates


302

£263.0.0

Bristol Road

Charles Banks


260

£191.0.0

St Andrew’s

Anthony S. Bennett

 30

£ 22.0.0

Hay Green

Raymond C. Turner

 31

£ 2310.0

Longbridge

Charles Banks


 54

£ 34.0.0

A note in the August-October 1960 plan tells us that there would be a Sunday School Stone-Laying from 3.30-4.30 p.m. on September 10th at Hay Green, with contributions solicited from interested people towards the Circuit Stone.

Interestingly the circuit plan of August-October 1962 contains the following notes:

1. From September 1st, Rev R.C. Turner will be the Superintendent Minister of the Circuit.

2. From that date, wherever the name “Bates” occurs in the list of preachers appointed, that of his successor at King’s Norton should be substituted.

3. The newly appointed minister will have charge also of Hay Green, in succession to Rev. R. C. Turner.

It appears that for some reason Conference had not appointed the Rev Bernard H. Howell who had been in the Birmingham, Sutton Park Circuit for the previous 4 years, to the South West circuit by the time the plan went to the printers.  The Rev E. Ralph Bates superannuated in 1962.

On 22nd December 1963 the circuit was shocked by the death of the Rev Harold T Cook, who had had pastoral charge of Northfield and Longbridge since September 1960.  Mr Cook, an ex-United Methodist minister, had previously been a missionary in China (1926-46), where he and his family were interned by the Japanese, and in Sierra Leone (1954-60).  From December 1963 to September 1964 Northfield was in the pastoral care of Mr Turner and Mr Howell, whilst a church member and local preacher, Mr F. Peter Baggs (later the Rev Peter Baggs), took day to day charge of the church.  The Rev Charles A. Clark, who was stationed at Southport, was released from that appointment a year early and he and his family moved to Northfield in September 1964.

In the plan of August–October 1965 the circuit is informed that 


The Revs R. C. Turner and A. S. Bennett will be removing to other Circuits on 1st September, 1965.  As from this date the Rev J. Lawson Garforth will succeed Mr Turner and the Rev. C. Hughes Smith M.A. will succeed Mr. Bennett.  The plan should be read accordingly, and the seniority of Ministers should be: Mr Garforth, Mr Clark, Mr Howell, and Mr Smith.

It is interesting to note that when Mr Garforth joined the Circuit as Superintendent in his first Circuit Plan of November 1965-January 1966 the married women local preachers were listed as ‘Mrs’, but the unmarried ladies were not indicated by ‘Miss’, though this was amended later!!  Also, for some reason, the lectionary lessons were omitted in November 1965-May 1966 plans.  A special date was noted on the May–July 1966 plan, namely, ‘May 14, 3.00 p.m. STONELAYING OF THE NEW LONGBRIDGE METHODIST CHURCH’ and on the following plan we find ‘Sept 10, 3.00p.m. OPENING OF THE NEW SELLY OAK METHODIST CHURCH. Preacher: Rev Wilfred H. Bridge, Chairman of the District’.

The Circuit had always been supportive of Overseas Missions, including contributing to Ivory Coast Hospital Fund 1965/6, and on 4th March 1966 a Circuit Pageant entitled ‘Militant and Triumphant’ was staged at Selly Oak.

In the summer of 1967 the Rev Charles Clark enjoyed an exchange with the Rev Dr Edwin Kimbrough from Birmingham Alabama (USA), which proved to be an exciting time for both the families and churches.  July 1st 1967 at 3.00 p.m. saw the opening of the new Longbridge Methodist Church.  On 7th September 1967 the Circuit welcomed the Rev J. Raymond Goodburn, BA, who was to take pastoral charge of Longbridge.  The President of Conference, the Rev Dr Irvonwy Morgan visited the circuit on March 5th 1968 and on 6th April the Circuit Overseas Mission meeting was addressed by Miss Kay Freeman, who had served in the Tiruchirapalli Diocese of South India.  In September 1968 the Rev Bernard Howell was replaced by the Rev Lionel Brayton.  During the 1960s the Methodist and Anglican Churches had engaged in conversations about unity and there was a Conference at the Central Hall on 26th October 1968 on ‘The Final Report’ which was addressed by members of the Commission.  [It had been hoped that the United Anglican-Methodist Service to be televised by the BBC at Northfield on Sunday, 13th July 1969 in which the Chairman of the District, the Rev Wilfred H. Bridge, and the Bishop of Birmingham, the Rev Dr J. L. Wilson, KCMG, were to be the preachers might celebrate the union of the two churches, but the Anglican vote in the General Synod was not sufficient (less than the two-thirds required) for the merger.]

The format of the Circuit Plan changed in 1969 becoming a 10 page booklet with different coloured covers and containing commercial advertisements presumably to help with the cost of printing.  However, there are two ‘advertisements’ which warrant special notice.  One is for the National Children’s Home, which was celebrating 100 years of caring for children (1869-1969) and the other one was about Methodist International House, Selly Oak.  This reads:

RACIAL INTEGRATION?
The world comes and lives together in Selly Oak.

Here we are – Benedict and Hezekiah and Bill and Oliver and Sumar and Errol and Soon Pheng and forty more of us.  Nfoki and Kwamanakweenda and Roe and Raeburn and Chakravorty and Baynes and Ng (pronounced ng).  From Swaziland and Zambia and Digboi and St. Ives (Huntingdonshire), St. Vincent (West Indies) St. Patrick (West Indies, as well) and Tanglin Hall, Singapore, 3.  We are assorted shades of black, white and yellow.  Methodist, Anglicans, Roman Catholics, Hindus and straight “Religion: None”.  Metallurgists, educational administrators, P.E. students, mechanical engineers.
Here we are – 47 of us – living together at Methodist International House, Selly Oak.

RACIAL INTEGRATION?

What can I do about it?

I can become a Friend of International House and help to add my brick in building the world of tomorrow.  I can send 10/- to the Treasurer, Mrs. Ann Reece, 86 Presthope Road, Birmingham, 29.






Space donated by A. M. Young & Co.
A.M. Young & Co. continued to donate advertisement space for M.I.H. until Feb-May 1977.  The format of the circuit plan was then changed to 4 A4 pages.

In the new Style plan more details were given of the Circuit and Church Officials as well as the Ministers, Local Preachers and Visiting Preachers.  A Circuit Missionary Garden Party was held on June 7th 1969 at the home of Mr and Mrs A. H. Hughes and on the 21st Kingsmead College held an Open Afternoon.  September 1969 saw the transfer of Shenley into the Circuit.  Shenley had been a mission outreach project from the Birmingham Central Hall/Mission Circuit, but on entering the Birmingham South West Circuit it came under the pastoral care of the Rev Charles Clark.  Longbridge held a Church Bazaar on 21st and 22nd November.  There was a special note in the November 1969-January 1970 plan asking the Local Preachers to note ‘that after the official business of the next L.P. Meeting (2nd December at Northfield) the proceedings will take the form of a Bible Study Group.  Will all Preachers study Isaiah 11, 1-10 and Revelation 20, 11-21, 8 and come prepared to share their thoughts on those passages.’  In the same plan there were 55 Local Preachers listed plus 1 ‘minister in training’, 9 ‘on trial’ and 1 ‘on Note’.  There were 20 women among this number.

With the number of churches now being nine it is worth noting the membership figures and assessments of the individual societies as at December 1969:

Church
Minister

Circuit Membership
Assessment







  £

Selly Oak
C. Hughes Smith

402

600

St Andrew’s

C. Hughes Smith

 23

  30

Harborne

J. Lawson Garforth

138

272

California

J. Lawson Garforth

 28

  30

Kings Norton

Lionel Brayton

317

540

Hay Green

Lionel Brayton

 34

  34

Northfield

Charles A. Clark

302

468

Shenley

Charles A. Clark

 48

  54

Longbridge

J. Raymond Goodburn
107

148








------

------------







          1,399
           2,176

On May 18th 1970 at 7.45 p.m. a Circuit Choir Festival was held at Northfield during which there was an Introduction to the Supplement to the Hymn Book.  June 13th saw a Methodist/Roman Catholic Conference take place at the Convent of the Holy Child, Sir Harry’s Road, Edgbaston.  Mr and Mrs A H Hughes hosted a Garden Party in aid of Overseas Missions on 4th July.  The Methodist Theological College at Handsworth closed in 1970 being amalgamated with The Queen’s College (Anglican) in Edgbaston and so The Queen’s College, Edgbaston was, from August 1970, included on the Birmingham South West Circuit Plan.  The Methodist staff listed were the Revs Dr William Strawson M.Th., Trevor T. Rowe MA, B.Sc., BD and J. Munsey Turner, MA.

In September 1970 the Rev E Gordon Davies replaced the Rev Charles A Clark and the Rev R Martin Evans-Jones, a probationer minister, joined the circuit as University Chaplain also serving as Associate Minister at Selly Oak.  Shenley now came under the pastoral care of the Rev Raymond Goodburn.  From May 2nd 1971 evening service at Hay Green ceased.  On May 20th 1971 the Circuit held festival of Song at Harborne when Dr Strawson was the preacher.  Mr and Mrs P.W. Welch hosted the Circuit Garden Party on 12th June and continued to do so for a number of years.  Kings Norton held a Flower Festival and Gift Days on 3rd and 4th July.  September 1971 saw the departure of the Revs J. Lawson Garforth and Lionel Brayton and the arrival of the Revs John S. Hope and J. Gordon Scott to take pastoral charge of Harborne and California, Kings Norton and Hay Green espectively, while the Rev E. Gordon Davies became the Superintendent minister.  The Wesley Deaconess Order had moved from its College in Ilkley, Yorkshire in 1968 to Birmingham to study at Handsworth College, but when that College amalgamated with The Queen’s College the Order opened its own headquarters in Pritchatts Road, Edgbaston in 1971 so we now find the Centre included for the first time on the circuit plan of August–October 1971.  The Rev Geoffrey Litherland MA, BD was the Warden.  An innovation appears on the plan of November 1971-Jan 1972 with a notice about the Circuit Mini-Bus, which could be booked through the Shenley House Community.

The Rev Martin Evans-Jones was ordained at the Welsh Assembly on 18th May 1972.  The Rev John H. S. Crossley replaced the Rev J. Raymond Goodburn in September 1972, taking pastoral charge of Longbridge and Shenley, while the Rev Brian J.N. Galliers, MA, M.Th. became Warden of the Wesley Deaconess Centre.  There was a United Christian Rally in Cannon Hill Park at 3.00 p.m. on 17th September.

A change came in February 1973 when services at the California Church building ceased, but services, mornings at 11.00 a.m. and evenings at 6.30 p.m. alternatively, took place at 12 Rushey Piece, Woodgate Valley.  The society was now evolving as a Local Ecumenical Project, comprising the local Methodists and Anglicans.  12 Rushey Piece was an ordinary house which had been adapted for worship.  The Rev John S. Hope and the Rev Stephen R. Lowe, B.Sc (Econ), (Anglican), whose name, from the November 1972 Circuit Plan was added to the list of Circuit Ministers, had pastoral charge of the society, which in the summer of 1973 went by the name of Community House, Woodgate Valley/California.  [Under the list of Visiting Preachers for a number of quarters is to be found the name of the Rev Morgan Williams, who, as he frequently took services at Woodgate Valley, was, one assumes, an Anglican priest at Bartley Green, perhaps the curate or assistant to the Rev Stephen Lowe.]  The name of California finally disappeared from the plan in November 1973, being replaced by Woodgate Valley.  The Rev Stephen Lowe had taken over responsibility for the Circuit Film projector from Mr Arnold W Wood, who had looked after its bookings since August 1970.  The hire of the projector from the Home Mission Division was discontinued in September 1976.  From May 1974 the address of 12 Rushey Piece disappeared from the plan as did the evening services.  All, or certainly the majority, of the services appear to have been taken by ordained clergy from August 1973.

In September 1974 the minister of Selly Oak, the Rev Christopher Hughes Smith MA became Chairman of the Birmingham District in succession to the Rev Wilfred H Bridge.  As he had not been a Superintendent Minister, but was in fact the fourth minister in the Circuit this was rather unusual.  It was not unique – the same thing had happened in the 1950s/60s in the Scotland District.  The Rev Donald G. Knighton MA became the minister in pastoral charge at Selly Oak.  In September 1975 the Rev Bernard J. Ward succeeded Rev E. Gordon Davies both as the minister at Northfield and as Superintendent of the Circuit with the Welcome Service, which was conducted by the Chairman of the District, being held at Northfield on 7th September.  The Rev Brian G. Powley, MA was also inducted as the University Chaplain as well as Associate Minister at Selly Oak.  The Anglican priest, the Rev Stephen R. Lowe, who had been very involved with Woodgate Valley moved on at the same time and services were often listed as ‘Anglican’ or taken by visiting clergy during the interregnum.  In February 1975 the Rev Keith R Crouch, AKC was appointed as the Anglican priest at Woodgate Valley.  A note records that, while the Rev John Hope was in hospital the Rev Brian Powley would have pastoral charge at Harborne and the Rev Bernard Ward at Woodgate Valley, and extended thanks to ministers from the Queen’s College and those working in the Sectors for their help during the quarter.  A Circuit Consultation on ‘Facing Grief’ was held on 24th May 1976.  A special Circuit Service took place at Northfield to commission members of staff for work at Frankley on 6th June.  The Queen’s College held an ‘Open Day’ on 19th June, while the following day a reception service for a local preacher, Mrs L. Osborne, took place at Harborne.

In September 1976 the Circuit announced ‘Three new Ecumenical Projects!’

1.  Frankley was a housing estate being developed on the edge of Birmingham and Worcestershire.  The new society met in the Community Hall, adjoining The Beeches Middle School, Frog Mill Lane, Birmingham B45.  Services commenced at Frankley on 5th September. The Revs Bernard Ward, John Crossley, Sister Anne Haire and the Vicar of Frankley (when the appointment had been made) were the staff involved at Frankley.   The Rev Michael T. Denny was inducted as Vicar on Saturday, 19th March 1977 at 3.00 p.m.
2.  Services at Hawkesley began on 3rd October with the staff being the Revs Brian E. Pearce (Anglican) and Gordon Scott.  Hawkesley Church School, which was an Anglican-Methodist Joint Aided Voluntary Day School, in Shannon Road B38 being the venue.  The first head of the Junior School was Mr Dudley B. Shipton, who was also a Methodist local preacher, while Mrs J. Jones was head of the Infant School.  The official opening of Hawkesley Anglican-Methodist Worship-Pastoral Centre and Day Schools was scheduled for early October 1976.

3. The Day Care Centre, in Wychall Lane B38 was the third ecumenical project.  This rather short lived project, just the two quarters August 1976-January 1977, was staffed by the Rev. Christopher P. Copeland (Anglican) and Sydney Smith (URC) with a Methodist to be appointed as Class Leader.  Services were held intermittently – eight out twenty-eight Sundays between 1st August 1976 and 23rd January 1977.  A note in the following quarter plan states ‘The economical (sic) project has, for the time being, again become an Anglican Venture based on Kings Norton Parish Church.’

With the inclusion of the LEPs the names of the Rev Brian Pearce and Sister Anne Haire were added to the list of circuit staff and from May 1977 the Rev Michael Denny’s name was included as well.  A Circuit Youth Festival was held from 9th-17th October 1976 concluding with a Youth Service at Selly Oak on the Sunday when certificates and trophies were presented.

The next development came when the circuit plan became much smaller as the information about the individual churches was transferred to a separate Directory.  There is a note about the change: in the August - December 1977 Plan:


‘This current Plan includes four months in order that future editions


may be published more conveniently, being issued for the Connexional


New Year each September and quarterly thereafter.


because of the smaller quarterly Plan, an annual Directory will be


published – this year in September but in future in May, with the


June Plan – listing local church appointments (made in February


and April), effective from May 1st, and Circuit appointments (made

.
in March), effective from September 1st.’

On the same plan we find ‘Our thanks and best wishes go to those who move or retire – the Rev. John Crossley moves to Bristol and Dr. Albert Mosley to the Mission House, while Dr. Fred Milson who retires, will still live at Selly Oak, and Sister Jean Baillie goes to Liverpool on retirement.  We welcome the Rev G David C Bown to minister at Longbridge and Frankley, the Revs. Peter Russell and George Mulrain to the staff of Kingsmead College, and Sister Yvonne to the Wesley Deaconess Centre staff.  The Rev. Malcolm Prescott becomes Associated Member of staff at The Queen’s College and Mr. Robert Sneddon, accepted for ministerial training enters Wesley House, Cambridge.’

A Frankley Pastoral Centre Appeal for £8,000 was launched on Sunday, 4th September 1977, which included a stone-laying and a picnic tea.  This was followed by a Circuit Service at Northfield in the evening.

Clergy of other denominations who were involved with the LEPs were now designated as Associate Staff rather than being included in the list of Methodist Circuit Ministers.  The Rev Keith Crouch left Woodgate Valley at the end of December 1977.  He was succeeded in June 1978 by the Rev Derek R Carrick.  From March 1978 a rather cryptic note relating to Shenley states that ‘It is anticipated that services will continue during the quarter or until due notice is given’. This note continued to appear until the Decvember-1979-March 1980 plan.

In September 1978 the Rev. Joseph Stephens MA, BD came to take pastoral charge at Kings Norton and the Rev Peter B Mortlock to Harborne.

The Quarterly Assessment for 1979-80

Church
Minister

Circuit Membership
Assessment







  £

Selly Oak
Donald G. Knighton



2753

St Andrew’s

Donald G. Knighton



   88

Harborne

Peter B. Mortlock



 902

Kings Norton

Joseph Stephens



2232

Hay Green

Joseph Stephens



  140

Northfield

Bernard J. Ward



1680

Shenley

Bernard J. Ward



    50

Longbridge

G. David Bown



 798

From September 1979 there was a difference in the way the Quarterly Assessments were calculated with a note explaining that ‘Through the Regional Sponsoring Body for Local Ecumenical Projects, the Circuit will receive a total of £406 per quarter, in lieu of assessments from Woodgate Valley, Frankley and Hawkesley’.  In following September this wording was amended to read ‘Through the Regional Sponsoring Body for Local Ecumenical Projects, the Circuit and the Anglican Diocese make arrangements for assessments and appointments from Woodgate Valley, Frankley and Hawkesley’.

8th January 1979 saw the opening of the Methodist-Frankley Day School and the Official opening of the work on the Frankley estate took place in October.  In the spring of 1979 both Harborne and Northfield changed the times of their morning services from 11.00 a.m. to 10.30 a.m. initially for a trial period, which was ultimately ratified.

Mr Pat W. Welch BA, one of the Circuit local preachers, was designated as Vice-President of the Methodist Conference for 1979-1980.  He preached at a Circuit Service on Saturday, 2nd September 1979 at Selly Oak.

Circuit Services and Circuit Consultations were instituted, roughly once a quarter.  One of particular interest was on the Human Sexuality Report of the Methodist Church held on 10th January 1980.  This was followed, on 8th June 1981, by a consultation to discuss the revised report, which was introduced by the Rev Michael Roberts, one of the tutors at The Queen’s College.
Methodist International House held a Silver Jubilee Service at Selly Oak on Sunday, 7th September 1980 when the preacher was the past Vice President of Conference, Mr Pat W. Welch.  On 6th October the current Vice President, Mrs Elsie Moult, visited the Circuit.  In March 1981, through the auspices of the World Methodist Council, the Rev Raymond F. Williams of Silver Springs, Maryland, USA visited the Circuit, being based chiefly at Northfield.  The Queen’s College had an Open Day on Wednesday, 4th March.  Then on 13th June members of the Circuit met at Kings Norton and Northfield stations to participate in and enjoy a day’s excursion to Bath.

The Rev Brian Powley moved in September 1981 and was replaced by the Rev Stuart J. Burgess BD, M.Ed., as University chaplain and Associate Minister at Selly Oak.  From 7th-14th October churches in Birmingham organized “Birmingham Alive” – an Ecumenical Mission to the City.  In the spring of 1982 Circuit Consultations were held on subjects relating to the Methodist Anglican conversations, namely, ‘Proposals for a Covenant of Unity’ (Northfield, 13th January) and ‘Methodist Episcopacy’ (Queen’s College, 1st February).  The General Secretary of the Division of Ministries, the Rev Trevor Rowe, was the speaker at the Circuit Service on 20th May.  Saturday, 13th March saw the opening and dedication by the Rev William Gowland of Luton Industrial Mission, a past President of Conference, of the new St Andrews church building.

When the Rev Bernard Ward moved in September 1982 the Rev Donald G. Knighton became the Circuit Superintendent and the Rev Ivor W. (Wilf) Pearce BA arrived from the Isle of Man to replace Mr Ward at Northfield, with the Circuit Welcome Service being there on 3rd.  The Rev H. Edward Lacy, BA succeeded the Rev. Brian J. N. Galliers as the Ministerial Warden of the Wesley Deaconess Centre in September 1983.  The Rev Brian O’Gorman, Past President of Conference, was the preacher at the Circuit Service on 4th September 1983 at Selly Oak and on the following Thursday, 8th, there was a special Communion Service, also at Selly Oak, for the “Go - welcome” event for people going to and coming from overseas at which the preacher was the current serving President of Conference, the Rev Amos Cresswell.  The Circuit Women’s Committee organized a day of meditation and reflection at Kingsmead College on Saturday, 17th September 1983 led by the Rev Stuart J. Burgess.  In the plan of March-May 1984 there were two major developments – the addresses of the churches were included and the church at Frankley adopted the name of Holly Hill, Frankley.

In September 1984 the Circuit welcomed the Revs Peter T. Jones BSc, BD to serve at Selly Oak and to be Superintendent minister; Andrew MacNab to Harborne and Alan J. Merchant to Longbridge and Frankley.  The welcome service, led by the Rev. Joseph Stephens, was held on 2nd September at Selly Oak when the preacher was the Chairman of the District, the Rev Christopher Hughes Smith.  In the December 1984-February 1985 plan it was noted that the new hymn book, Hymns and Psalms was in use at Selly Oak, Longbridge and Hay Green.  The plan of the following quarter has two important items.  First the Chairman of the District, the Rev Christopher Hughes Smith, is also listed as the President Designate of the Methodist Conference, having been chosen thus at the 1984 Conference.  Second, Kings Norton Church in Pershore Road South is now renamed as Cotteridge.  On 21st April 1985 a Circuit Gathering, followed by Circuit Service, was held at Longbridge.  The discussion on ‘Mission alongside the Poor’ was led by Miss Ann Scott and the Rev John Richardson.  Northfield hosted the Birmingham District Synod on 24th April (Ministerial Session) and 27th (Representative Session).

The Methodist Conference was held in the University of Aston, Birmingham in 1985.  The Ministerial Session took place from 25th-27th June and the Representative Session from 28th June to 5th July.  The Opening of Conference on 28th June saw the induction of the Rev Christopher Hughes Smith MA as President and Mr Leon Murray, JP as Vice-President.  I think that Mr Murray was the first black Vice-President. Both, plus the Secretary of Conference, the Rev. Brian Beck, took part in the Conference Service which was held at Northfield on Sunday, 30th June.  As was customary various meetings and lectures associated with Conference were held throughout the Birmingham District.

A Circuit Study Day, led by the Rev Dr Frances Young, was held on 28th June 1986 at the Queen’s College from 10.30 a.m. – 7.00 p.m.  The theme was ‘The Christian Faith – a Methodist Perspective’ and it concluded with a Local Preachers Recognition Service.  Two Circuit Consultations, both at Selly Oak, were held in March 1987 – 4th was on Worship and 16th about Home Missions.  The Association of Friends of the National Children’s Home met at Bonner House, 172 Sellywood Road, Selly Oak on 10th July 1987.
  Selly Oak, on Sunday, 19th July, hosted the District Farewell Service for the Chairman of the District, the Rev C. Hughes Smith, which was most appropriate as when he was stationed in the South-West Circuit he had been minister there.  The District and Ecumenical Welcome to the new Chairman, the Rev Donald M. Eadie, was held at Selly Oak on 17th September 1987.  Worship at Shenley had ceased on 18th October thus reducing the number of churches in the Circuit to ten.  This is noted on the December 1987-February 1988 plan where it is also stated that worship at Northfield was now being held in the Church Hall until further notice.  This was due to redevelopment and refurbishment of the premises.  Later the morning services were held in St Laurence Church’s (Anglican) Pastoral Centre and the evening ones at Hay Green Methodist Church. 
During Lent 1988 the Circuit Staff led Teach-Ins on the History, Thought and Future of Methodism to celebrate the 250th Anniversary of John Wesley’s conversion culminating in the United Circuit Service of Celebration at Selly Oak on 22nd May.  The fact that the Queen was attending the 250th Anniversary of Wesley Day on Tuesday, 24th May at St Paul’s Cathedral was highlighted.

While Cotteridge was being developed with a view to becoming a LEP made up of the original Methodist congregation, the Anglicans from St Agnes and Watford Road, United Reformed Church members, services were held in the morning at Cotteridge School and the evening ones at the Friends Meeting House.
  The Rev Howard Booth who was very involved with the Healing ministry of the Church was the preacher at the Circuit Service on 30th October 1988 at Selly Oak.

1989 saw two re-openings with the new premises at Cotteridge being re-dedicated on 4th February at 2.30 p.m. and Northfield’s re-opening on Easter Sunday, 26th March at 10.30 a.m.  The Revs Stuart Burgess and Alan Merchant left the circuit to take up new appointments and on 10th September a Circuit Service, with the Chairman of the District, the Rev Donald Eadie as preacher, was held at 6.45 p.m. to welcome the Rev Dr Keith R. Albans, MA, BD and the Rev Helen Cameron, BA.  Dr Albans was the new Methodist chaplain at the University of Birmingham and associate minister at Selly Oak while Mrs Cameron had pastoral charge of Longbridge and Holly Hill, Frankley.  The Overseas Division of the Methodist Church, organized a “Go – Welcome” conference at Kingsmead College on Thursday, 14th September.
Miss Anne Bowen was appointed in 1990 as Circuit Administrator,.  She was based at Selly Oak on three mornings a week.  Enclosed in the Circuit plan of March-May 1990 is a leaflet intimating that the Circuit would be working via a ‘Collaborative Superintendency’.  This was described in the following words:


During the next twelve months the Circuit Responsibilities will

 be shared among Circuit staff working in conjunction with

 the Circuit Stewards, the Circuit Treasurer and the Circuit Administrator.

The main areas of Responsibility were listed.  I imagine the idea was to help the then Superintendent who was not in the best of health.  As far as I can remember, being one of the Circuit Stewards, everything worked well and nothing much changed in the ensuing years.

Wendy and Jim Bridgeman from the Solomon Islands were the speakers at the Circuit Missionary Meeting on Saturday, 24th March at Harborne.  The following day a Local Preacher’s Recognition Service for Mrs Hilary Cheng was held at 4.45 p.m. at Northfield, followed by a Faith Tea.  Then at 6.45 p.m. the Rev Ermal Kirby MA was the preacher at the Circuit Home Mission Service.  At the end of August 1990 the Rev Joseph Stephens retired and the Rev Anne E. Gibson, BA arrived to take pastoral charge at Cotteridge.  While the Rev Peter Jones moved from Selly Oak to be succeeded by the Rev Eric J. Locke, BA, BD. And the Rev Andrew Macnab became the Superintendent Minister.  The Welcome service was held at Cotteridge on 9th September at 6.45 p.m.

Quarterly Assessments 1989-1990

Selly Oak
£7,303




Harborne
£2,494

Cotteridge
£5,098




St Andrews
 £235

Northfield
£4,579




Hay Green
 £340

Longbridge
£2,146



TOTAL
£22,195
From December 1990-August 1994 the format of the Circuit Plan changed and it became solely a Plan as a separate Directory, containing information about the Circuit Officials and the churches, was issued.

The Rev Helen Cameron was to be ordained at the Methodist Conference at Bolton on Sunday, 23rd June 1991, but previous to that a District Ordinands’ Testimony Service took place at Longbridge on Monday, 29th April 1991 at 7.30 p.m.

At the Circuit Service held at Northfield on 8th March 1992 Andrew Bull was recognised as a Fully Accredited Local Preacher.  The Circuit played host to the Birmingham District Synod on Saturday, 2nd May at Shenley Court School.  Two local preachers, Mrs Paula Bee and Mrs Hilary Cheng, were recommended to proceed in April as candidates for the ordained ministry.  The Revs. Andrew Macnab and I. Wilf Pearce moved to the Bedworth and Sutton Coldfield Circuits respectively in August 1992.  They were succeeded by the Revs. Ian Haile MA., B.Met. (Northfield) and Tim Crome BA. (Harborne) and welcomed at the Circuit Service held at Northfield on Sunday, 13th September at 6.30 p.m.  The Rev Eric Locke replaced the Rev Andrew Macnab as the Superintendent Minister.

Kingsmead College, having been originally founded by the Quakers in 1905 to train missionaries, especially women, from 1915 had been increasingly influenced by Methodism and then in 1960 became the Methodist Church’s Missionary Training College.  The 3rd July 1993 saw the closing act of worship at Kingsmead College, Selly Oak and its work and some of the staff joined the College of the Ascension, which in turn closed in 2006.  Some of its work is carried on in the Selly Oak Centre for Mission Studies at The Queen’s College.  From December 1993 Longbridge ceased having Sunday evening services each week, but still held about half per quarter until 2001.

The home of ex-Vice President, Mr P. W. Welch, was the venue for the Circuit Garden Party on Saturday, 9th July 1994.  The following day, 10th July the Circuit Service at Selly Oak was an act of celebration with the new Vice President of Conference, Sister Christine Walters and also an occasion to say farewell to the Revs. Helen Cameron and Keith Albans.  On 11th September a Welcome Service to welcome the Rev Vivienne Gasteen and the new University Chaplain, Sister Kathleen Hutton, was held at Longbridge.

In September 1994 the format of the Circuit Plan changed yet again, now including a letter – The Circuit Scene; A round up of news and events across the Circuit – from the Superintendent Minister, the Rev Eric Locke.  This enabled him to summarise changes taking place within the circuit and to highlight any items of special interest.  Other members of the circuit staff contributed these letters in subsequent quarters.  Sunday, March 5th saw a Conference, ‘Together Journey On’, on Church Membership, followed by a Circuit Service, led by the Connexional Local Preachers and Membership Secretary, the Rev Peter Barber, at Northfield.  On 1st July 1995 once again the Circuit Garden Party was held at the Welch’s home and £725 was raised for the new nursery at Holly Hill, Frankley.  The Garden Party

also provided a chance for the circuit to meet the Rev Fred and Mrs Vera Bosch from Johannesburg, South Africa who were participating on a month’s exchange visit with Mr and Mrs Locke.  Mr Bosch wrote The Circuit Scene in the September-November 1995 Circuit Plan.  On 23rd September Longbridge hosted a ‘Creativity Day’ led by the Rev Bill Denning.  The following quarter the Rev Viv Gasteen reported that planning permission had been obtained and a contractor appointed for the new building at Holly Hill.  There was also a note for the attention of preachers that quarter that St Francis, Woodgate Valley had ‘purchased an organ which plays itself.’  A selection of hymns from Hymns and Psalms was on computer disc and those taking services were requested to contact the Rev Tim Crome to find out those available.
In 1996 Methodism celebrated 200 years of Local Preaching and in connection with this the Circuit held a special service, which included the commissioning of Dr Jenny Bywaters as a Local Preacher, at 6.00 p.m. on 2nd June at Selly Oak.  Unfortunately, in August 1996 the Chairman of the District was forced by ill health to become a Junior Supernumerary and the Rev Christina Le Moignan, MA became the new Chair of the District.  A District service to welcome her was held at Handsworth on 29th August.  From 1989 she had been on the staff of the Queen’s College so was already well known in this Circuit.  From September 1996 the church at Holly Hill formally adopted the name of St Christopher’s.  A Circuit Consultation on ‘Charter ’95 [contributions from young people in the church] followed by a Circuit Service took place at Northfield on 24th November 1996.  The November Circuit decided that in future the Circuit Plan should be produced three instead of four times a year meaning that the next plan would cover six months and from September 1997 the plans would cover four months [this rather unpopular experiment did not last for long (1997-2004)!].  It was also agreed to incorporate the Circuit Prayer card into the plan so that prayers would be updated three times a year and thereby cover a wider range of concerns across the circuit.  The Rev Christina Le Moignan, the District Chair, had been the lecturer for the Fernley Hartley Lecture entitled ‘The Relevance of the Book of Revelation for the year 2000’ at the 1996 Conference and on 4th December 1996 she repeated it at Selly Oak at 7.30 p.m.  [The Fernley Hartley Lecture was established after Methodist Union in 1932 from the Fernley (1869) and Hartley (1897) Lectures and was previously given during the Methodist Conference, but in 2007 it was moved to other convenient dates].

In August 1997 the Rev Anne Gibson moved from the Circuit and was replaced by the Rev Rosamy Murphy, B. Phil (Ed) with the Welcome service being held at Cotteridge on 7th September.  The previous Circuit Meeting had agreed that on the retirement of the Rev Eric Locke the Rev Tim Crome should become the superintendent minister with the pastoral oversight remaining the same.  In January 1998 the Circuit staff was increased when Deacon Al Henry arrived to have special responsibility for the work on the Woodgate Valley estate.  Selly Oak held an Arts Festival from 1st-4th May and there was a Circuit Pilgrimage on 9th May when people travelled round all the churches in the circuit.  Selly Oak hosted a Lecture given by Professor John Hull entitled ‘The Doctrine of the Trinity in a Pluralistic Society’ on 10th May at 3.00 p.m.  Previous to the G8 Summit, which was being held in Birmingham on 16th May, an All Night Prayer Vigil was held at Selly Oak and at the actual G8 Summit people from the Circuit joined the Human Chain to highlight World Poverty.  This forced the G8 to add Third World Debt to their agenda.  On June 14th there was a Local Preachers Study afternoon at Harborne, followed by the Circuit Service and the 19th was the occasion of the Circuit’s Farewell to the Rev and Mrs Eric Locke.  The Rev Nick Skelding and family were welcomed at a Service at Selly Oak on 3rd September.  In 1999 Hay Green changed the timing of its service from 11.00 a.m. to 10.30 a.m.  A Circuit Youth Service was held at Cotteridge on 31st January and on 21st March mission workshops, ‘Spring into Mission’, took place, while the Chair of the District, the Rev Christina Le Moignan, preached at the Circuit Service at Northfield on 28th March.  May 22nd was the day of the Circuit Pilgrimage when all the churches were visited.  Northfield held a Flower Festival on 4th July.  July 1999 saw the retirement and departure of the Rev. Ian Haile – to Truro, Cornwall – and Deacon Kath Hutton – to Tewkesbury.  They were replaced by the Revs Kavula John, BA (Northfield and Hawkesley) and Gareth Jones, MA (Chaplain to the University and Westhill College) and the Welcome Service was held at Northfield on 1st September.  Mrs John, a probationer, had to continue her probationer studies as well as pursuing her M.Phil. degree course

September 1st saw the merging of the two Church schools at Hawkesley with the possibility of further opportunity following central government investment into the estate.  The plans at St Christopher’s, Holly Hill for building a separate worship area adjacent to the school were making progress.  While Harborne, being a listed building, was working on development plans.

In the Spring of 2000 many people in the churches were affected by the problems at Rover in Longbridge.  Some workers not being sure whether they would become unemployed and others, who had depended on the car plant for their livelihood, facing an uncertain future.  The circuit supported them in all ways possible.  A special Pentecost Celebration was held in Cannon Hill Park on Sunday, 11th June.  In September 2000 the Rev Donald Sampson joined the circuit as a supernumerary minister and, although, in theory, ‘retired’, as an ‘active supernumerary’ in due course he was to have special responsibility for the work at Hawkesley.  A Circuit Youth Service was held at Hawkesley on 11th February 2001 and the circuit plan for January-April 2001 notes, for the first time, which ministers are ‘on Sabbatical’ – the Rev Garth Jones (July and August) and Tim Crome (23rd April- 15th August).  Also for the first time an extra note is added to the list of ‘local preachers’ to the effect that Mr Alf Hammersley is a Trainee Worship Leader.  The plan of May-August 2001 highlighted a number of ‘goings’ and ‘comings’, namely a special service at Selly Oak on 19th May to celebrate the District Chair, the Rev Christian Le Moignan becoming President of the Methodist Conference and a farewell one to the Rev Viv Gasteen at Longbridge on June 30th; the Circuit Welcome Service for the Rev Nick Jones and the Chinese speaking congregation at St Christopher’s, Holly Hill.  It was also noted that the Rev Kavula John was being ordained in Ely Cathedral on 24th June.  In September the Rev Vicki Atkinson BD moved into the Circuit.

The Methodist Chinese speaking congregation had been meeting for many years in premises of the Central Hall, Corporation Street, as part of the Central Hall Circuit.  When that Circuit ceased to exist the members of the Central Hall congregation opted to join the Birmingham West Circuit, but the Chinese congregation decided to join the Birmingham South West Circuit, while still continuing to worship in the Central Hall building.  The Chinese church was henceforth listed in the plan with the appointments being described as ‘Local Arrangements’ and their minister, the Rev Beh Goh Peng, joined the Birmingham South West Circuit staff.  In September 2012 the members of the Chinese church moved physically to worship in Northfield Methodist Church premises at 2.00 p.m.

On 1st June 2003 Cotteridge hosted ‘Living Legacy’ Circuit workshops followed by worship for the Wesley Tercentenary.  After 11 years (1992-2003) in the Circuit, including 5 as Superintendent minister, (1998-2003) the Rev Tim Crome was preparing to move to Kent and two Circuit farewell events at Harborne took place to mark this - a Social evening on 7th July and a service on 13th.  The Welcome Service for the Rev Doreen Hare, BA, MA as the in-coming Superintendent Minister, occurred on 4th September at Harborne.  The Circuit had sold the Harborne manse, 89 Wentworth Road, and purchased 17 Church Croft into which she moved.

From September 2003 services at St Francis, Genside, Woodgate Valley ceased.  In the quarter of January-April 2004 the format of the Circuit plan underwent a few stylistic changes with alterations to the listing of ministers on the front page, a different order of the churches and the lectionary readings moved from the top the page of appointments to the foot; Holy Communion (HC) now being entitled Eucharist (E) and the titles of the local preachers being removed from that listing (this makes it more difficult to know how to address individuals, especially women).  Holy week services and activities were highlighted.  On May 30th a World Church service was held at Northfield to celebrate Pentecost.  July 4th saw the farewell service for the Rev Kavula John at Hawkesley and there were two District services, the first at Shirley to bid farewell to the retiring Chair of the District, the Rev Dr. Christina Le Moignan on Sunday, 11th July and the second on Saturday 28th August at Worcester Cathedral to welcome the Rev William H Anderson as the new Chair.

Once again the format of the Circuit Plan was altered by reverting to a three monthly plan while the list of lectionary readings had a more prominent position and the times of services were given according to the 24 hour clock.  On Sunday, 26th September worship at Harborne Methodist Church, South Street moved to premises in St Peter’s Church, Old Church Road.  So from October services were held there.  There were changes in pastoral responsibility - Doreen Hare (Harborne, St Francis) Vicki Atkinson (Hay Green), (Goh Peng Beh Chinese Church), Nick Jones (Longbridge, Northfield), Ros Murphy (Cotteridge, Hawkesley), Nick Skelding (Selly Oak, St Andrew’s) and Donald Sampson (St Christopher’s).  During this quarter there were two Circuit Celebrations – a service of thanksgiving on 19th September at Northfield at 6.30 p.m. and on 17th October the Young People’s One World Week at Selly Oak from 2.00 p.m.  The service at Northfield included the presentation of Local Preachers’ Long Service Certificates.  A Mission Service on Justice was held at Longbridge on Sunday 30th January 2005 starting at 3.00 p.m. and Circuit Service of meditation, reflection and prayer took place at Selly Oak on Ash Wednesday (9th February) at 7.30 p.m.  A comprehensive list of Holy Week services was given in the March-May 2005 plan along with suggestions for daily meditations.
The June–August 2005 plan notes two projects ‘which seek to “do church” differently and to be alongside the local community’, namely the retail chaplaincy in Harborne High Street and the work in the Woodgate Valley building, where no longer was there a Sunday service, but which provided a well-used meeting place for many different groups in the local community.  The Circuit hosted a Christian Aid musical presentation, “Feast of Life” at Selly Oak on Friday, 22nd July and there was a Farewell Service on the following Sunday for the Revs Ros Murphy and Vicki Atkinson.  The 4th September saw holding of a Circuit Service at Northfield to mark the arrival of the Rev Victoria O Bravette to take pastoral charge of Northfield and Cotteridge.  Following Conference’s acceptance the programme of ‘The Year of Prayer: Pray without Ceasing’ the circuit was allotted the period from 8.00 p.m. on 1st September – 8.00 a.m. 2nd September and arrangements were made for both Selly Oak and Longbridge to be open for the 12 hours.  The events were to start with an act of worship and end with a shared Eucharist.  The special candles given out at Conference were to be lit.  Selly Oak planned to include the baking of bread while Longbridge intended to have a prayer graffiti board.  The Christian Aid musical presentation, “Feast of Life” was repeated at St Peter’s Church, Old Church Road, Harborne on 1st October to mark the campaign “MakePovertyHistory”.  An Alternative Christmas Market was held at Selly Oak on Tuesday, 15th November from 6-8.30 p.m. at which visitors were invited to purchase cards which would tell the recipients that a certain amount of money had been given to a good cause – to buy two goats, some trees, medical kit – instead of a traditional present.  Christmas services to be held throughout the Circuit were listed and a note appended that occasional services would be held at St. Francis, Woodgate Valley on special occasions.  A multi-media worship Circuit Service was held at Selly Oak on Palm Sunday 9th April 2006 and information given of the Holy Week services which also involved other denominations.

In the summer of 2006 the United College of the Ascension, which in 1993 had incorporated Kingsmead College (see p.20), moved to The Queen’s Foundation to become known  as the Selly Oak Centre for Mission Studies.  The Harborne Methodist congregation, having been worshiping at 11.30 a.m. in St Peter’s Church, (see p.23) on 25th June 2006 moved into a room designated as ‘the Methodist room’ there and services took place at 10.00 a.m.  Ultimately it became known as the Wesley Room.  A special Circuit Eucharist Service at 6.00 p.m. was held at Longbridge on 25th June to coincide with the Conference Ordination services being held in the Scotland District.  The Circuit Service at Northfield on 3rd September had a ‘green’ theme with the opportunity to recycle items.  A fortnight later on 17th the service at Selly Oak focused on recent changes in the circuit, while a month later St Christopher’s held an afternoon of Education and youth Workshops.  This year the Alternative Christmas Market was held on Saturday, 4th November at Northfield.  A well loved supernumerary minister the Rev Arnold H. Cooper died in the autumn of 2006.  Christmas Services were once again listed on the Circuit plan.

2007 seemed to be a year of diverse celebrations as the Rev Doreen Hare, the superintendent minister noted in her letter in the circuit plan, referring to the Charles Wesley tercentenary conference at Swanwick (3rd-5th April) and locally the circuit service on Aldersgate Sunday, 20th May at Northfield, which would mark the conversion experiences of John and Charles Wesley and the founding of Primitive Methodism (1807).  In particular, Methodism and indeed other organizations recalled the 200th anniversary of the abolition of slavery.  A Circuit event at Selly Oak on Sunday 4th March focused on ‘Exploring Chaplaincy’ with worship being shared by the Chairman of the District, the Rev Bill Anderson.  Holy week services throughout the circuit were listed.  From June 2007 evening services at Northfield were only held on the third Sunday of the month and ceased altogether from January 2011.  A Circuit Farewell service for the Rev. Nick Skelding and Jane Wilson was held at Selly Oak on 22nd July 2007 and the Rev Kara Cooper, the new University Chaplain, was welcomed at the same venue on 2nd September.  On 14th October, once again Longbridge hosted a Circuit Youth Event.  On the December 2007-February 2008 plan the names of the Lay Workers were added to those of the circuit staff, supernumeraries and chaplains while the names of student ministers who were ‘on placement’ in the circuit were also noted.  With Lent falling in February in 2008 not only were the Christmas services listed as usual, but also the Ash Wednesday service at Hay Green on 6th February.  Then the Holy Week services appeared on the following quarter’s plan.  A similar time schedule occurred in the plan of the same period the next year.  Hope 08 was a united Christian social justice and evangelist campaign for 2008 and the Circuit service on 1st June at Selly Oak focused on the various expressions of Hope 08 happening in the circuit.

The Connexional year of 2008 started with a pilgrimage was entitled ‘Praying the Circuit’ on Sunday, 7th September.  Coaches left Selly Oak church at 2.00 p.m. to visit all the churches in the circuit returning there for a short service at 6.30 p.m.  Sunday, 28th September was designated as ‘Back to Church Sunday’ when members were asked to invite people who no longer felt at home in church to return.  Northfield was the venue for the Circuit Service on 7th June which was a farewell service for those leaving the circuit in the summer and it was preceded by music from the choirs of Chinese church and the Shona Fellowship.  Those moving on to other appointments were the student minister, Phil Jackson, and two lay workers, Amy Merriman and Derek Sowton, while Tom Milton, as Centre Manager at St Francis took on further responsibilities.  A Circuit Garden Party took place on Saturday, 20th June at 534 Birmingham Road, Marlbrook from 12 noon - 4 00 p.m.  A welcome surprise was when the Conference appointed the Rev Heather Taylor to the circuit for a year with no financial implications.  She would have pastoral responsibility for Hay Green and join the team working at St Christopher’s and was welcomed at a special circuit service at Hay Green on Sunday 5th September.

For the first time since 1912 (see p.2) the name of Harborne Methodist church was missing from the September-November 2009 circuit plan as the society there had finally decided to disperse with many going to Selly Oak, but others to Northfield.  A Local Preachers’ Recognition Service took place at Longbridge on Sunday, 22nd November.  Christmas Services throughout the Circuit were listed as usual in the autumn plan as were the Holy Week ones in the spring one.  Notice was given of a New Music Resources Day being held at Catshill Methodist church on Saturday 5th June 10.30 a.m. - 3.30 p.m. to explore the material proposed for a new hymn book intended to replace Hymns and Psalms.  Longbridge organised a day of celebration, participation and sharing for 13-30 year olds called eXtreme on Saturday, 26th June.  After her year in the Circuit, the Rev Heather Taylor, and also a student at Queen’s the Rev Charles Ilunga were bidden farewell at Selly Oak on 18th July 2010.  September 2010 saw two events at Selly Oak, namely, the Circuit Service on 5th when the Canon P. Howell-Jones from Birmingham Cathedral was the preacher and the District Synod on 11th.  The Christmas season services were listed as usual.

2011 was designated as the year of Biblefresh, which was a new movement of churches and others endeavouring to inspire local churches to take a fresh look at the Bible.  It was also the year the United Kingdom celebrated the 400 years of the King James Bible (the Authorised Version).  The Ash Wednesday Circuit Service was held at Selly Oak on 9th March and the Holy Week services were also noted.

After much thought, prayer and discussion a number of circuits (Asbury Birmingham South-West, Elmdon and Moseley and Sparkhill) in the Birmingham area decided to join together to form The Birmingham Circuit.  This meant many changes, but of immediate significance for the Birmingham South-West Circuit was the Farewell Event and service at Selly Oak on Sunday, 17th July 2011 to mark its ending and the departure of the final superintendent minister, Rev Doreen Hare.  For the importance of this account it also meant the end of the Birmingham South-West Circuit Plan.  Over the years it had encompassed many changes so its demise after more than 100 years is to be regretted.

The important establishment of the new Birmingham Circuit was marked by a Celebration Event at Birmingham Symphony Hall at 7.30 p.m. on Thursday, 1st September 2011 attended by the President and Vice President of the Methodist Conference, the Rev Leo Osborn and Mrs Ruth Pickles.
Dr E. Dorothy Graham
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Figure 1: Taken from Prayer Card 1992-93

� Wesley, John, Journal (ed. Curnock, N. Standard edition) vol. vi pp.360-361; Sheldon, W.C.Early Methodism in Birmingham (Birmingham, 1903) pp.20-33


� Wesleyan Methodist Conference Minutes 1746


� Minutes of Conference  1749 (1812) p.40 (hereafter Mins of Conf)


� Mins of Conf 1765


� Murray, A. Victor: A Northumbrian Methodist Childhood  [, ed. G. E. Milburn, 1992, Northumberland County Library]; Bourne College archives; personal memories of elderly member of St Paul’s; Grave at Lodge Hill.


� . Mins of Conf. 1973 p. 143


� Minutes of Conference, 1943 pp.101-102


� Minutes of Conference, 1943 pp.60-62


� Graham, E. Dorothy, Continuing Journey... (October 1981) p.5


� Graham, E. Dorothy, Continuing Journey ....(October 1981) pp. 10-11; West Midlands Methodist History Society, Introducing The Special Anniversary Book: Celebrating 50 Golden Years...(June 2016)  pp.4-10


� I am not sure that this was ever really published as  I do not have copies of any Directory before 1990 when a separate Directory was definitely issued. [see p. 20]


� No membership figures are given in the table in this circuit plan


� NCH had acquired and opened Bonner House consisting of flats for unsupported mothers and a nursery for 25 children in 1969.  After major refurbishment it re-opened on 2011 as a family assessment centre run by the Dudley Lodge charity.


� St Agnes was demolished and a Kwik Save supermarket was built on the site; Watford Road URC was demolished and a sheltered housing complex built on the site.





6

